

# **Steering Committee**

Minutes for meeting of Thursday, October 15, 2020, 4:00 pm

YouTube Link to access recording: https://youtu.be/mtflqfakVJA

- 1) Call to Order at 4:01 p.m.
- 2) Roll Call via Qualtrics
- 3) Approval of Minutes of September 24, 2020
  - a) Motion to approve minutes, second,
  - b) Discussion of changes made to minutes since they were sent out to the Steering Committee. The content was not changed, it was just revised to read more like minutes, than direct transcription.
  - c) Motion to postpone approval of minutes to next meeting so that the committee can review them, second, vote taken, motion passes with 17 approve, 0 opposed.
- 4) Announcements
  - a) Chair Harrington stated that the Faculty Senate leadership is continuing to work on appointments to EID committee, but they were delayed due to Conflict of Interest policy issues. There is now a short list of people who will be contacted to see if they are willing to serve. Provost office keeps a webpage of all university committees and the leadership has asked that the webpage be updated as the rosters are out of date.
  - b) There is a push from Tallahassee to increase number of face-to-face classes.
  - c) The Conflict-of-Interest policy caused quite a stir, as it has a drastic consequence if the policy is violated. The UCF policy was being updated and the Faculty Senate leadership sent it to the Research Council for review. The COI policy was met with much concern. Vice President for Compliance, Ethics and Risk Rhonda Bishop had been invited to speak at this meeting, but because of the response, the policy was pulled off the website and will be reconsidered. Chair Harrington and others started doing research and found the policy at UF was very detailed and amenable to faculty and would be something for UCF to consider as an example. The Research Council will coordinate a university-wide discussion on how to revise the policy.
  - d) Two other policies sent to the Budget and Administrative Committee were approved by B&A.
- 5) Recognition of Guests
  - a) Kent Butler, Equity, Inclusion and Diversity
  - b) Robert Cassanello, UFF
  - c) Lucretia Cooney, Faculty Excellence
  - d) Michael Johnson, Office of the Provost
  - e) Carly McCarthy, Communications and Marketing
  - f) Grace White, Psychology



- g) Joe Adams, Office of the Provost
- 6) Report of the Provost
  - a) Both face-to-face and remote teaching has been effective for this fall. Teachers have been very supportive and flexible.
  - b) He appreciated how, overall, the campus community has complied with social distancing and wearing masks. A spike in cases has been traced to socializing in bars, etc. They will continue to use surveillance testing. Tracing has no indications of cases being transmitted in the classroom. ¼ of classes are on campus and ¼ of students were on campus this fall.
  - c) The goal for spring is to substantially increase face-to-face. He has asked the deans to strive for previously face-to-face classes to meet this way in the spring. Two significant limitations to increasing face-to-face classes, available rooms with social distancing protocol and health issues of teachers. If conditions deteriorate as next semester approaches, they will reconsider.
  - d) Administration should be deciding about spring break soon.
  - e) Dean searches are commencing for the Libraries, College of Sciences, and CREOL.
  - f) Vice President for Student Development and Enrollment Services Maribeth Ehasz is retiring after 30 years. She is a champion for student success.
  - g) A senate resolution was passed last year about accessible parking spaces downtown. These spaces do meet the minimum standards but are farther away than desired by the senate. They have had difficulty finding a better arrangement because it may be too expensive, or the city requirements are prohibitive. They will be investigating if other city parking spaces could be made available. They will be considering whether to expand a loading dock area to include accessible spaces but would need approval from the city. They also may run shuttles or golf carts. He noted that the downtown situation is not very different from what happens on the main campus.
  - h) He was pleased to announce that Peter Delfyett has earned the 2021 Arthur L. Schawlow Prize in Laser Sciences. He is a UCF Pegasus Professor of Optics and Photonics and studies the application of semiconductor lasers to fiber optic communications.
  - i) A senator had a comment about the spring calendar. School of Performing Arts students were polled and it was found that they would like to start on time and end early. The provost mentioned that he has heard of this poll.
  - j) Another senator asked about the classroom capacity in the spring, due to the spacing that had to be done in the fall. The provost agreed that the capacity issue is a problem. He stated there is a set of classrooms that are not being used due to the smaller size that could be used in the spring because there are more smaller classes than he thought. The senator clarified that he was asking what would happen with an 80-person class and the provost agreed that it would have to be remote or mixed mode because there is not a big-enough classroom to seat 80 with social distancing.
  - k) A senator brought up the cuts the library is receiving. He is concerned with what services are going to be cut. The provost stated that the president has asked the departments to project a 3%, 6% or 8% cut and what services would be affected.



He said what the senator heard was what the library submitted. He gave an example of how FSU cut their costs by researching what services have been used most and cutting the services that were rarely used.

- Another senator corrected the previous senator's quote of the size of the Library budget. She was concerned how she can do her job if the library resources are cut. She also was wondering how the university found \$50M for the new ERP software. She commented about the conflict of interest policy saying that there should be people hired to monitor the conflict of interest forms that are submitted. The provost said that he is pleased that the Faculty Senate is going to be working on the editing of the policy. He agreed that the new law that has been passed is worrisome. He said that the balance with compliance is to help people to stay out of trouble. He noted that carry forward money like that used for the ERP cannot be used for recurring library expenses.
- m) A senator asked what carry forward can be used for. The provost stated that it can be used for start-up funds for new faculty. It can be used for some building improvements. It can be used for faculty travel in some instances. She also asked about the At-Risk Faculty form and would like to know if the form can extend to family members living in the home. The provost said yes.
- n) Chair Harrington read a question from the Chat regarding whether the At-Risk form also covers mental health. The provost said that it does not.
- o) Chair Harrington said he is concerned very much about the library budget and IT issues and how they affect the research grants.
- p) He mentioned that there was a rejected resolution from last year regarding email for faculty who leave the university. Automatic email replies to senders are only sent for six months and faculty would like them to be sent out for 2 years.
- q) He also brought up that students are not showing up in person for lab/class time when they are given a choice to attend remotely. SGA and Faculty Senate reran the surveys regarding teaching/returning to classes in the spring.
- r) He mentioned that Interim CIO Mike Sink and his team have identified the consulting firm they will be using for the ERP. The budget is down to \$27M, which includes \$7M for current employees.
- 7) Committee Reports
  - a) Ad Hoc Budget and Labor Crisis Response Reid Oetjen
    - i) The committee has not met since the last Faculty Senate meeting.
    - ii) They are waiting to hear from the provost's office about the At-Risk form for spring.
    - iii) He noted that the new survey did not include any budget questions as they didn't think it would be pertinent.
  - b) Ad Hoc Health and Safety Crisis Response Steve King
    - i) The committee met and discussed the classroom utilization for spring.
    - ii) A student on the committee commented that they would like to have a spring break closer to finals, so they get a mental break prior to taking their finals.
    - iii) There is a concern that rapid tests have a limit to them.
- 8) Old Business
  - a) COVID Discussion no further discussion



- 9) New Business
  - a) Proposed New Conflict of Interest Policy # 4-504.3
    - i) A senator comments that he wonders why there was no faculty involvement at the beginning of the policy process rather than after the fact as a reaction.
    - ii) Chair Harrington said he is hoping that the Faculty Senate review process of upcoming policies will help those entities to consider coming to the faculty first when writing their policies.
    - iii) Another senator asked whether there is a platform where the groups can collaborate. Chair Harrington stated that they are working on doing that.
    - iv) The provost stated that he agrees that certain policies should come before the senate prior to being put up for comment. This has not been done traditionally. However, he feels there are some policies that wouldn't need to come to the Faculty Senate as they do not apply to faculty. He will strive to have more faculty involvement in the process.
    - v) A senator expressed a concern about how long it takes for approval of the conflict of interest forms.
  - b) SPol Task Force Report Grace White
    - i) Dr. White gave an overview of the document.
    - ii) She noted that if the goal of SPol is to use it as a metric for faculty performance, then it should have learning as a consideration. There are three recommended options from the committee.
      - (1) Eliminate the Use of Student Perception of Instruction Assessment in Faculty Evaluations
      - (2) Keep SPol assessment with inclusion of bias awareness language and add additional measures of teaching effectiveness, including instructor reflection and peer review.
      - (3) Keep SPol assessment with edits/changes to items and instruction to increase validity and reduce bias (e.g. bias disclaimers, example prompts)
    - iii) Chair Harrington said that the Faculty Senate asked that the SPol process be looked at and noted that if there are changes to be made, Steering will need to make a recommendation to move it forward.
    - iv) A senator wanted to know if the first recommendation was the primary recommendation. Dr. White stated that no, it was not the primary recommendation, that it was just the first recommendation. The senator wanted to know if there was any preference from the committee members as to which recommendation they preferred. She said they did not take a vote, so she could not say which recommendation was preferred. He would like to know how the third recommendation would advance anything. She noted that there is a wide range of opinions from the students as to whether they like you, don't like you, or are ambivalent.
    - v) Another senator stated that there should be a motion to accept the report and discharge the committee and thank them. He would like to thank Professor White for her efforts leading this committee and doing the work. This came from when the Student Government passed resolutions that they wanted to see the SPoIs when they register for classes. This is what caused the creation of the task force. UF did this same process about three years ago



and they overhauled their questions and their process as a result. He recommends checking with them on how they did that.

- vi) Chair Harrington calls for a motion to accept the report, discharge the committee, or go back to committee to do further work.
- (1) Motion to accept the report and discharge the committee, second
- vii) Discussion ensued
  - (1) A senator asked what the alternative is to an SPoI for faculty evaluation of teaching. She also wonders if the students understand the ramifications of completing the survey. She wanted to know why the small classes have a higher and more positive review rate. Dr. White noted that these questions are addressed in the report. She said the alternative is peer reviews, chair reviews, etc. She also said that not all students understand the impact of what they are doing, but some do and use it as a mechanism for revenge.

viii)Motion to table further discussion until after committee reports, second, vote taken, motion passes with 13 yes/1 no.

- c) Time Change for Steering and Senate Meetings Beginning Next Year
  - i) Chair Harrington suggests that the meetings be moved to 3:00-5:00 with the next senate year. He asks for a motion to consider.
  - ii) Motion made to put on the next Senate agenda to consider a 3:00 start for Senate and Steering Committee meetings starting with 2021-2022 senate year, second, vote taken 14 for/1 abstention/2 against
- 10) Committee Reports, Continued
  - a) Budget and Administrative Committee Nina Orlovskaya
    - i) The committee met yesterday and heard two reports, one from the library and one from Student Accessibility Services.
    - ii) The library talked about their finances and getting faculty opinions about resources. Subscription costs have increased for journals because it goes by student count. Budget cuts would affect these subscriptions.
    - iii) They also heard a report from SAS regarding what services they provide and how they help students. It was noted that not everyone with a disability registers with them for their help. Their budget depends on students registering for their help.
  - b) Information Technology Committee Joe Harrington
    - i) Committee met on Tuesday and spoke with Interim CIO Michael Sink about pain points on IT. They also got a status report of current issues facing IT.
  - c) Parking, Transportation and Safety Committee Adam Wells
    - i) They have not met since the Faculty Senate meeting. Their next meeting is on October 26<sup>th</sup>.
    - ii) He gave an update to a question from the last meeting about the cuts to public safety budget. He found out that this was not part of the budget reduction, it was a one-time allocation that was not renewed.
  - d) Personnel Committee Steve King
    - The committee has identified two items to send back to Steering. They feel that Topics 11 and 12 should be moved to the Ad Hoc Equity, Inclusion and Diversity Committee. They wanted the committee to note two words of



concern – without fear – that can have many interpretations. Chair Harrington said that they will be put back on the Topics list to be moved to EID Committee.

- e) Research Council Vicki Loerzel
- i) No update
- f) Graduate Council Jim Moharam
  - i) The committees met once last week and will meet again next week. Program Review considered a proposal. Policy Committee met and voted to exclude summer from enrollment requirement so exams can be taken without being registered for classes. The Board of Trustees approved the GRE requirement exception being extended for one year. The committee will now discuss further whether to remove the requirement permanently.
- g) Undergraduate Council Bill Self
  - i) UPCC has not met. Some of the business coming to the next meeting is changes to programs.
  - ii) A senator asked whether UPCC does not want to consider fees.
  - iii) Senator Self noted that there are multiple interpretations as to whether or not fees could be increased or added and whether this is to be brought to the Board of Trustees, as it is felt that the Board frowns on it. He doesn't know whether an increase or new course fee would be considered.
- h) Ad Hoc Campus Equity, Inclusion and Diversity Committee Joseph Harrington
  i) No update
- i) Ad Hoc Internal Communications Joseph Harrington
  - i) No update
- 11) SPol Motion Reconsideration
  - a) A senator would like to send the document back to committee because there is a missing component. He feels that systematic feedback is important.
  - b) Another senator stated he is against sending it back to committee. He feels if it needs to be looked at, a senate committee should do it.
  - c) Motion to accept report as presented and discharge committee, second
  - d) Vote taken, 10 yes/5 no, motion passes
  - e) Committee is thanked for their hard work and discharged.
- 12) Other Business
  - a) No other business
- 13)Meeting adjourned at 6:02 p.m.

Motion for EID Committee name and charge change:

Ad-Hoc Equity, Inclusion, and Diversity Committee

Develop and evaluate programs and policies in areas within the purview of the Faculty Senate whose goal is to reduce systemic racism or improve equity, inclusion, and diversity at UCF. The committee will work with existing entities, including relevant Senate committees, to bring these ideas to fruition and to evaluate the effectiveness of such programs. The committee also handles EID-related personnel and policy issues.

# Student Perception of Instruction (SPoI) Task Force Report 2020



AUGUST 2020

# UCF Student Perception of Instruction (SPoI) Task Force Report to the Faculty Senate

#### **Taskforce Members**

Kelly Allred Associate Professor, Nursing Practice Zhongzhu Chen Assistant Professor, Department of Physics Lucretia Cooney Director, Faculty Excellence Jana Jasinski Professor, Faculty Excellence **Tamra Legron-Rodriguez** *Lecturer*, *Department of Chemistry* Eric Main Associate Director, Faculty Center for Teaching & Learning **Ann Miller** Interim Director, Faculty Center for Teaching & Learning Professor, Nicholson School of Communication and Media Patsy Moskal Director, Learning Resources William Self Professor and Associate Director of Undergraduate Affairs **Julie Sharek** Instructor, Integrated Business Keri Watson Associate Professor, School of Visual Arts & Design Grace White (Chair) Associate Lecturer, Department of Psychology

# **Introduction and Overview**

The Student Perception of Instruction (SPoI) Task Force was convened in the spring 2020 in response to Faculty Senate Resolution 2018-19-12 (see <a href="http://facultysenate.ucf.edu/resolutions/2018\_2019/index.asp">http://facultysenate.ucf.edu/resolutions/2018\_2019/index.asp</a>) which was focused on improving the Student Perceptions of Instruction at UCF. The work of the task force was focused on reviewing questions and question validity, recommending better methods to evaluate teaching, and defining the role of the SPoI in the evaluation process.

For decades, use of student evaluations in faculty performance has been a hot topic in higher education and a point of significant criticism (e.g. Esarey & Valdez, 2020; Rosen, 2018). The most prominent area of discourse has been related to whether these surveys could reliably and accurately measure teaching effectiveness (Boring, Ottoboni, & Stark, 2016; Emery, Kramer, & Tian, 2003). Moreover, examinations of student evaluations of faculty performance at colleges and universities across the nation have shown a consistent and replicable pattern of bias against female faculty and faculty of color (Boring, 2017; Centra & Gaubatz, 2000; Harlow, 2003; Kogan, Schoenfeld-Tacher, &Hellyer, 2010; Laube, Massoni, Sprague, &Ferber, 2007; McPherson, Jewell, & Kim, 2009; Spooren, Brockx, & Mortelmans, 2013). Thus, the almost exclusive reliance on this biased metric in "high-stakes" personnel decisions like promotion, tenure, and awards can create and perpetuate systemic deficits for faculty who are not white and/or who are female. Therefore, it is incumbent upon universities to consider and weigh the impact of such reliance given the mounting evidence against their validity (Flaherty, 2020; Lederman, 2020).

### A Brief History of UCF's SPoI Survey

With regards to the history of SPoI at UCF, there is a body of literature and research on the 16item SPoI (see appendix 1) which was in use between 1996 and Spring 2013. A brief summary of those studies is presented below:

- Research completed by Wang, Dzuiban, Cook and Moskal (2009) was able to generate general rules to discriminate between faculty rated as excellent and those rated as poor from SPoI data collected from student responses in academic years 1996 to 2001. These findings had practical applications in allowing faculty to be able to target specific areas of student perceptions which in turn may have increased overall ratings.
- Dzuiban, Moskal, Kramer, & Thompson (2012) explored whether there was a difference in the number of elements by which students evaluate their online courses depending on the degree of ambivalence they express about those courses. Further, if there was a difference, what were the dimensions and how did they relate to each other. This research examined student responses in academic years 2008-2010 at UCF. Overall, these data suggested that ambivalence (as indicated by 2, 3, 4 rating on Likert scale) was indicative of a more complex model of student satisfaction (Dzuiban et al., 2012). While students with no ambivalence used a general opinion which determined their evaluations, ambivalent students used multiple categories of information to formulate their ratings. For the most ambivalent (3), the students also evaluate the degree to which the instructor is responsive to them.
- Dzuiban and Moskal (2011) investigated whether the identical student rating instrument is measuring the same or different underlying teaching and learning constructs,

depending on the modality in which the course is offered? Approximately 1.1 million student responses to the 16 item SPI across 3 course modalities (online, blended, face-to-face) at UCF were analyzed. Findings showed data set characteristics for the 3 modalities resulted in a single factor which accounted for 70% of the total system variance. (Dzuiban & Moskal, 2011). The conclusion is: course modality had no impact on students when evaluating educational experiences. Thus, it seems that the same underlying criterion is being used by students when making these ratings regardless of modality.

Based on the above empirical literature, UCF's 16 item assessment appeared to be a valid and reliable measure of students' perceptions of instruction. None of the studies examined the current 9-item assessment (see appendix 2) which went into effect in fall 2013. It is possible to infer that the 9 items, which were derived from the 16-item assessment, likely share the same or similar reliability and validity. However, this is an empirical question. The process of assessment validation requires the exploration of the psychometric properties of measures cross-sectionally and over time. These metrics include, and are not limited to, predictive validity, construct validity, and criterion-related validity. Given the lack of this type of assessment validation data for the 9-item measure, the conclusions which can be drawn about its validity are limited. For the 16-item survey, based on the empirical literature, there is still a question of the impact of bias (based on age, gender, race and/or national origin) on these ratings. Specifically, none of the above research addresses or excludes the possibility of bias in the ratings. From a review of the empirical literature, we have a clear picture of how students at UCF viewed excellent and poor instructors (particularly for years 1996-2001). However, whether these subjective assessments are indicative of objective teaching effectiveness and learning outcomes was not explored. This question is not answered by the above research.

Given the information provided by the empirical data on the SPoI, we were able to come to a few conclusions and concerns. UCF's 16-item measure seems to have reliably captured **students' perceptions**. However, the question remains as to whether this is a sufficient and functional measure of objective teaching effectiveness and how these ratings connect to learning outcomes. Is teaching effectiveness only to be defined by student perceptions? This research also leaves concerns about bias in the ratings, which is not addressed by the previously reviewed literature. Without more data specific to measurement validation of the 9-item survey, evidence -based conclusions about its validity cannot be made. Further examination of the scope of application, and appropriateness of application, of SPoI as it relates to the objective evaluation of teaching effectiveness should be addressed.

#### **Overview of Task Force Recommendations**

This task force's charge is an important and timely one. The national discourse about student surveys highlights the delicate balance between giving students a voice in the academic process and creating an inclusive campus environment for female faculty and faculty of color. Faculty on the task force have also expressed concerns about an inability to introduce effective pedagogy which challenges students' thinking for fear of student reprisals in the evaluation process. Furthermore, concerns about the responsibility for faculty to remind students to complete these surveys, rather than having a university-controlled reminder mechanism, raises additional bias

possibilities. Given the complexity of the problem, the wide variety of concerns, and the high stakes associated with the SPoI, the task force did not arrive at a single, uniform conclusion, but instead came up with the following three possible recommendations for improving the SPoI, or improving the evaluation of teaching and learning in general, from which the Faculty Senate should select:

**Recommendation A:** Eliminate the Use of Student Perception of Instruction Assessment in Faculty Evaluation.

**Recommendation B:** Keep SPoI assessment with inclusion of bias awareness language and add additional measures of teaching effectiveness, including instructor reflection, peer review. **Recommendation C:** Keep SPoI assessment with edits/changes to items and instructions to increase validity and reduce bias (e.g. bias disclaimers, example prompts)

A detailed summary and report related to each of the above recommendations is included in the next section.

**Recommendation A:** Eliminate the Use of Student Perception of Instruction Assessment in Faculty Evaluation.

## • Task Force Work Group Members:

Tamra Legron-Rodriguez Julie Sharek Keri Watson

# **Explanation and Rationale:**

In response to a growing body of research, organizations from the American Sociological Association to the Association of American Universities to the American Association of University Professors have issued statements questioning the validity of Student Perceptions of Instruction/Student Evaluations of Teaching, and colleges and universities from the University of Oregon to the University of Southern California have discontinued their use.

Research has demonstrated that SPOIs are:

- Only weakly related to teaching effectiveness
- Used in statistically problematic ways
- Are influenced by factors such as times of day and class size
- Are biased against women, people of color, and adjuncts

As a 2019 American Sociological Association report wrote:

"Despite the ubiquity of SETs, a growing body of evidence suggests that their use in personnel decisions is problematic. SETs are weakly related to other measures of teaching effectiveness and student learning (Boring, Ottoboni, and Stark 2016; Uttl, White, and Gonzalez 2017); they are used in statistically problematic ways (e.g., categorical measures are treated as interval, response rates are ignored, small differences are given undue weight, and distributions are not reported) (Boysen 2015; Stark and Freishtat 2014); and they can be influenced by course characteristics like time of day, subject, class size, and whether the course is required, all of which are unrelated to teaching effectiveness. In addition, in both observational studies and experiments, SETs have been found to be biased against women and people of color (for recent reviews of the literature, see Basow and Martin 2012 and Spooren, Brockx, and Mortelmans 2015)."

Moreover, as argued in a recent issue of Inside Higher Ed:

"Relying on biased instruments to evaluate faculty members is institutional discrimination. Indeed, it is simply a matter of time before a class-action lawsuit is filed against an institution for knowingly using biased instruments in evaluating its faculty."

## Mechanism for Adoption of Recommendation:

As one of the largest and most innovative universities in the U.S., a designated Hispanic-Serving and Minority Serving institution that is committed to access, inclusion, and diversity, UCF should discontinue the use of SPOIs, which perpetuate race- and gender-based biases, in the process of Faculty Performance evaluations.

**Recommendation B:** Keep SPoI assessment with inclusion of bias awareness language and add additional measures of teaching effectiveness, including instructor reflection, peer review.

• Task Force Work Group Members: Eric Main Ann Miller William Self

#### **Explanation and Rationale:**

The idea that student evaluations can stand in for learning rests on two assumptions: that students can accurately gauge their own level of learning, and that they will accurately report those perceptions (Braga et al., 2014). However, a large body of research has shown that students are not good at assessing their own learning (Carpenter et al., 2020; Weinberg et al., 2009). Both laboratory and classroom data demonstrate that students are overconfident in their abilities in comparison to their actual performance (see review by Finn & Tauber, 2014). Many faculty members experience the results of this overconfidence firsthand when students come to them shocked by their poor performance on the first test, even though they thought they understood the material (Carpenter, et al., 2020; McGuire, 2015).

Furthermore, students have a strong tendency to erroneously misinterpret smooth, fluent learning experiences, such as enthusiastic lectures, for learning itself, even though empirical research has shown these teaching approaches to be ineffective or even counterproductive for actual learning (Motz, de Leeuw, Carvalho, Liang, & Goldstone, 2017; Williams & Ceci, 1997). In contrast, retrieval practice, spaced practice, and active learning have been demonstrated to be highly effective (Dunlosky, Rawson, Marsh, Nathan, & Willingham, 2013), but students often state that they do not learn well from these techniques, likely because they are less comfortable with the active nature of the learning experience. Deslauriers, McCarty, Miller, Callaghan, & Kestin (2019) found students rated instructors who employed active learning strategies less highly than those who used passive techniques, even though in reality students taught via active learning methods scored 10% higher on tests over the material. The researchers surmised that active learning by definition involves struggle for students, and students may interpret learning experiences that involve this kind of cognitive exertion as a sign that they are not learning.

As noted in the introductory material, students also seem not to be able to disentangle irrelevant factors from teaching evaluations (Yunker & Yunker, 2003). Research has demonstrated SETs to be affected by personal characteristics such as faculty gender (Weinberg et al., 2009), age (Sprinkle, 2008), nationality (Weinberg et al., 2009), and "hotness" (Felton, Koper, Mitchell, & Stinson, 2004), as well as situational factors like type of course (Uttl & Smibert, 2017), weather at the time of the SET (Braga et al., 2014), and even whether an independent administrator gave students chocolate before they filled out the evaluations (Youmans & Jee, 2007).

Finally, a few studies have found students' accuracy and honesty in reporting to be faulty (Nilson, 2013). For example, a majority of students voluntarily evaluated guest lecturers in their undergraduate and medical school classes who had never taught them (Reynolds, 1977; Uijtdechaage & O'Neal, 2014), and marked their instructor down on promptness of returning assignments even though the instructor had returned all assignments during the entire semester on the following class day (Stanfel, 1995). More disturbing, up to a third of students use instructor ratings to get revenge on instructors they do not like, even to the extent of submitting false information (Clayson & Haley, 2011).

At best, then, student evaluations of teaching (SETs) measure perceived learning, which has little if any relationship to actual learning. However, it is likely that they measure something more akin to satisfaction with the learning experience (Nilson, 2013). Students may not have the same values about teaching that college administrators do. Administrators are concerned that students learn, knowing that learning will make it more likely that they will graduate on time and, subsequently, find employment in their field of study. Students, in contrast, may care primarily about their grades, and secondarily about experiencing a stimulating classroom environment, what Braga and colleagues (2014) refer to as professors' realized utility to students. This sort of satisfaction may be the basis of SET scores, scores that are commonly misinterpreted by administrators as teaching effectiveness.

Nevertheless, quantitative end-of-semester SETs are the most commonly used technique for assessing the quality of teaching among college faculty. Up to 94% of deans and administrators use them to inform a variety of personnel decisions (Miller & Seldin, 2014). Typically administered as electronic surveys with Likert-type items inquiring into teachers' clarity, organization, and caring for students, SETs are likely pervasive because they are time efficient and inexpensive to administer. But it also makes intuitive sense that students, who are in the position to directly observe both their own learning and their instructors' teaching, should have a major voice in providing input about their classes. This option, therefore, does not propose to do away with student evaluations, but to supplement them with other measures, so as to triangulate evaluation of teaching quality.

#### **Proposed Improvement(s):**

The AAUP (2015) *Statement on Teaching Evaluation* states that firsthand data from various sources should be gathered, including from students, but emphasizes the primacy of faculty colleague judgements of teaching effectiveness. They suggest that the following types of data should be systematically gathered: 1) factual description of what an individual does as a teacher including number and level and kinds of classes taught, the numbers of students, out-of-class activities related to teaching, course syllabi, tests, materials, and methods employed in instruction; 2) various measures of the effectiveness of these efforts including data from students, trained observers, faculty colleagues, and self-evaluation; and fair consideration of the relation between these efforts and expectations of the department and institution. (Additional ideas related to STEM education can be found at https://www.aau.edu/sites/default/files/AAU-Files/STEM-Education-Initiative/P%26T-Matrix.pdf.)

In this regard, we identified four institutions that can serve as aspirational models for UCF if we are to move toward a multi-measure evaluation of faculty teaching: the University of Southern California, the University of Oregon, the University of Kansas, and the University of Colorado at Boulder,

*University of Southern California* has developed a detailed peer review system. The shift was featured in an article in *Chronicle of Higher Education* (Supiano, 2018). Detailed resource for peer review are available at the <u>USC Center for Excellence in Teaching website</u>.

*University of Oregon* has developed a holistic framework for teaching assessment than include peer review, self-reflection and student feedback. Detailed information is available about their procedures on the <u>Provost's web page</u>.

*University of Kansas* is currently in the midst of a 5-year National Science Foundation grant to develop a framework called <u>Benchmarks for Teaching Effectiveness</u>. The framework includes evaluation of teaching in seven areas, one of which is student perceptions. The university encourages the synthesis of information from instructor, peers, and students in departmental and school level evaluation.

Also funded by an NSF grant, the <u>Teaching Quality Framework</u> at the *University of Colorado Boulder* draws from multiple source of evidence to evaluate teaching include "voices" provided by the instructor, peer feedback, and student voices. The framework defines teaching as a scholarly activity with seven core elements.

The following principles are shared by all four of these institutional efforts:

- Student evaluations of teaching should not be the sole evidence on which teaching effectiveness is judged.
- At a minimum, three inputs should be included in the evaluation of teaching system: student feedback, instructor reflection, and peer review.
- Evaluation should be tailored by departments to make it appropriate to the discipline.
- Some shifts of wording are required in student evaluation instruments to make them appropriate for student input. The focus of these changes varies by institution.

#### Mechanism for Adoption of Recommendation:

Adoption of this recommendation would entail creation of a multi-disciplinary task force that would investigate peer and self-evaluation instrumentation currently available and pilot selected instruments across a range of departments. Based on the experience of the above-cited institutions, this would need to be a multi-year process in order to receive feedback across a range a disciplines and achieve faculty and departmental buy-in for the final product.

10

**Recommendation C:** Keep SPoI assessment with edits/changes to items and instructions to increase validity and reduce bias (e.g. bias disclaimers, example prompts)

• Task Force Work Group Members: Zhongzhu Chen Patsy Moskal Grace White

# **Explanation and Rationale:**

Student rating data can give voice to student experiences and concerns in the classroom. Thus, there may be some hesitation to abandon or diminish the student's perspective. However, student perspectives can also be tainted by personal biases unrelated to course content or instructor performance (Esarey & Valdez, 2020). As colleges and universities across the nation grapple with increased scrutiny and criticism of student surveys, many are choosing to try to address and mitigate these issues of bias (Flaherty, 2019; Peterson, Biederman, Andersen, Ditonto, & Roe, 2019). Evidence-based means to diminish these biases are lacking. Nonetheless, one possibility which has some empirical support, in the short-term, is cuing students to be aware of their biases prior to completing surveys (Peterson et al., 2019). This "cuing" is done through a statement or "disclaimer" which students read before making ratings on their instructors. Experimental research has shown that bias disclaimers can improve (or reduce) negative bias by up to .5 of a point for female faculty (Peterson et al., 2019). The improvements found in this research suggest bias disclaimers may be an effective tool in addressing gender bias in the short-term. However, their impact on racial bias and ageism was not explored (Peterson et al., 2019). Additional research which examines the long-term impact of these disclaimers must be completed to fully understand their effectiveness.

Similar to "cuing" students to their bias, it may also be beneficial to provide students with additional instruction and guidance on how to appropriately interpret each item on the evaluation form. Beyond bias, it has been called into question as to whether students have the ability to accurately review instructional quality (Jimaa, 2013). Therefore, an additional criticism of student rating data in faculty performance argues that students generally lack the knowledge, motivation, or perspective on the learning process, to provide meaningful evaluations of teaching. As a result, students' ratings on the items reflect more of their subjective feeling towards the course and the instructor, instead of a more objective judgement of the quality of instruction. The ratings could also be strongly influenced by comparison with other courses that the student happen to be taking simultaneously, resulting in a bias against more rigorous and challenging courses. If this is true, then providing students with assistance in framing their classroom experiences may be of benefit. One such method of providing context is to give examples of specific approaches, strategies, or experiences in the class being evaluated, which would be appropriate for receiving a Poor (1) rating or would be appropriate for receiving an Excellent (5) rating. These "example response prompts" would provide students with a mental framework, or context, upon which to gauge the students' experiences in the class and base course ratings. Thus, these prompts can steer students to think of specific types of relevant information when evaluating said experiences.

## **Proposed Improvement(s):**

**Bias Disclaimer**. If student rating data are used in faculty evaluation, there must be an attempt to alleviate any impact of bias against under-represented faculty. Thus, we recommend that UCF adopt a bias disclaimer to be included in the SPoI prior to students' completion of their instructor ratings. An example of an example bias disclaimer which could be incorporated into the SPoI is as follows:

Student evaluations of teaching play an important role in the review of faculty. Your opinions influence the review of instructors that takes place every year. University of Central Florida recognizes that student evaluations of teaching are often influenced by students' **unconscious** and **unintentional** biases about the race and gender of the instructor. Women and instructors of color are systematically rated lower in their teaching evaluations than white men, even when there are no actual differences in the instruction or in what students have learned.

As you fill out the course evaluation please keep this in mind and make an effort to resist stereotypes about professors. Focus on your opinions about the content of the course (the assignments, the textbook, the in-class material) and not unrelated matters (the instructor's appearance). (*Adapted from Peterson et al., 2019*)

Due to the lack of long-term data on the effectiveness of these disclaimers, the university must recognize the role which bias may play in student ratings, if they are used for important decisions related to promotion, tenure, and awards. Given that there is no fool-proof method to root out bias, departments and colleges must take into consideration how much weight, or value, should be attributed to these ratings when making such decisions.

*Example Prompts.* It is important to emphasize that this work group does not recommend that a set of "one size fit all" example description should be imposed on all student evaluation forms, as it will be impossible for find examples that are general to all disciplines, all course sizes, and all models of delivery. Instead, we recommend that faculty and departments should be able to customize these "example response prompts" to their specific domain and/or course content. Thus, a requirement to create an adaptable SPoI assessment method or system, which appropriately addresses differences in learning requirements across content domains, course sizes and delivery methods, is a necessity. It is the consensus of our work group that a problem complicated as evaluation of teaching effectiveness could only be resolved by enabling and encouraging all faculty and administration across campus to engage in active discussion about the definition of "good teaching" in different context. To increase the validity of assessments, the SPoI must be able to address variation in teaching methods and/or modality for the example prompts. The current document provides examples of what those example prompts could look like. In other words, the following list is a "example of example", which we hope could serve as the seed for future conversation on teaching effectiveness. An example of "example" prompts for SPoI items which could be incorporated into the SPoI are as follows, (see appendix 3 for all items):

1. Effectiveness organizing the course

**An instructor could receive a "1" rating** for **Effectiveness organizing the course** if for example: for a Webcourse that has no modules, no headings or titles for information, no guidance for navigation, made frequent changes to the course format, assignment deadlines, F2F- content seems jumps from idea to idea, no consistency in presentation, unannounced changes to deadlines, etc.

An instructor could receive a "5" rating for Effectiveness organizing the course if for example: Most assignments and course materials are accessible via more than one method, with clear instruction on how to access and utilize. Different components of the course, such as homework, exams, lecture and reading materials, are well aligned with each other. Provides reasonable flexibility in schedule for students without compromising the rigor of instruction.

As stated with the "bias disclaimer," long-term evaluations of the effectiveness of this method in improving students' precision in course evaluation would be needed.

*Appropriate Application/Use of Ratings.* Until the effectiveness of bias reduction using these methods is known, we encourage use of other evidence-based practices in evaluating faculty performance. Given the possible bias inherent to student rating data, we urge departments, colleges, and administrators to the view these data as "feedback" rather than as formal ratings. **There are also several statistical concerns and recommendations which must be taken into account for the appropriate use and application of these ratings.** These statistical issues include: (1)low response rates, (2)class size, (3) use of averages on categorical data, and (4) comparisons between distributions of scores (Stark & Freishtat, 2014).

Any statistician would state that use of metrics from a sample in which the response rate is low cannot be generalized to the larger population. Thus, making inferences about faculty performance if only a small portion of students have responded to their course SPoI may be inappropriate. Similarly, the average SPoI scores in small classes will be more greatly influenced by outliers, luck, and error (Stark & Freishtat, 2014). Therefore, instructors who teach smaller classes may be more affected by student rating bias, given that the *mean* is sensitive to extremes within the dataset. Hence, both low response rate and small class sizes may endanger faculty ratings, making these scores more vulnerable to bias.

It is of note that SPoI responses are ordinal categorical variables in which students make ratings from Poor (1) to Excellent (5). Stark and Freishtat (2014) point out that these student rating numbers are labels, not values. Thus, one cannot assume the difference between one and two is the same as the difference between four and five. Statistically, it does not make sense to average categorical variables. The appropriateness of use of parametric statistics with data which have Likert response formats continues to be debated among those who use statistics in the social and behavioral sciences (Leung, 2011). It is crucial that those making decisions from interpretations of the data understand the categorical nature of the variables and the appropriate ways in which to analyze these data. Lastly, if SPoI averages were statistically meaningful, it is improper to compare them with other scores, such as the departmental average, without knowing the distribution of scores (Stark & Freishtat, 2014). To further this point, it may be inappropriate to compare SPoIs of very different classes. Comparing the average without knowing the distribution, leaves out meaningful and required information for accurate interpretation. As an academic institution, utilization of scientifically rigorous methods to validate, implement, and interpret assessments must be our standard procedure. Overall, we must continue to explore

evidence-based methods to evaluate "effective" teaching, while understanding that these student ratings provide a portion of a larger picture in the totality of faculty performance.

### Mechanism for Adoption of Recommendation:

Adoption of this recommendation would require alterations to the content of the current SPoI survey as well as the need for a more adaptive system of assessment. The inclusion of a "bias disclaimer" statement prior to students accessing the survey items would be required. Thus, students must view, read, and agree to proceed in order to complete their course evaluations. With regards to the additional "example prompts," given the dynamic nature of these prompts depending upon the course or content area the SPoI system should be more dynamic and adaptable to specific courses. This requires the exploration of newer assessment system or technology which allows this type of customization. If this recommendation is selected an additional task-force or committee should be formed with the focus on this task as it relates to the technical aspects of the implementation of the desired changes. Lastly, departments and colleges must use and implement the statistically appropriate procedures for calculating and interpreting these measures. The inappropriate statistical application and comparison of the mean ratings can compound the impact of bias.

# **Summary of Report**

As indicated by the Faculty Senate Resolution 2018-19-12, the university must take action to address its use and application of the Student Perception of Instruction (SPoI) survey in its current form. As an institution of higher learning, we cannot ignore, nor be complacent, about growing concerns and evidence of bias in student rating data. Attempts to mitigate the impact of bias can follow the three possible recommendations for improving the SPoI, or improving the evaluation of teaching and learning in general, which are to:

(a) eliminate the use of SPoI in faculty evaluation,

(b) keep the current SPoI with inclusion of bias awareness language and add additional measures of teaching effectiveness, OR

(c) keep the current SPoI with edit/changes to items and instructions to increase validity and reduce bias.

The university must also encourage a holistic approach to evaluating faculty performance across all departments and colleges at the institution. At its very best, research on student data suggests that these ratings only account for **18% of the variance in how much students learn** (Kornell & Hausman, 2016). Consequently, over reliance on these "simple" metrics, like SPoI averages, can lead to inaccurate and unfair judgments of faculty.

It is of note that multiple professional organizations have urged universities to move away from a primary focus on student ratings in the evaluation of teaching (Flaherty, 2019). The American Sociological Association has been leading the charge in concert with other organizations in support of a cultural and institutional shift away from a reliance on these flawed metrics. As cited in this report, there is a significant body of research which suggests that use of these ratings in important personnel decisions leads to systemic bias against vulnerable groups, particularly women and people of color. Public universities, with similar size and scope as UCF, have been able to implement substantive changes to their faculty review process and student rating procedures the benefit of faculty and students (Flaherty, 2019).

Even more striking is the impact that the sole reliance on student rating data has on faculty pedagogy. Researchers posit that institutions which strongly depend on student rating data foster a culture of decreased rigor in their educational practices (e.g. Stroebe, 2016). Many faculty members across the nation also believe that decreasing educational rigor can increase student ratings (Morgan, Sneed, & Swinney, 2003). Thus, reliance on these ratings may have a counterproductive effect of increasing grade inflation while reducing the quality and impact of teaching. Not only are students spending less time engaged in the academic process, there also appears to be a significant *decrease* in improvements in critical thinking skills among more recent college graduates in comparison to college graduates of previous decades (Arum & Roksa, 2011; Pascarella et al., 2011). Therefore, universities must be willing to devote the time and resources to assess faculty accurately and fairly. Attempts to short-cut this process can only lead to biased and unjust evaluations which primarily hurt women and people of color. Moreover, an unwillingness to invest in a dynamic model of faculty evaluation also hurts the students whom institutions serve. Adoption of one of the recommendations of this task force, as they relate to the application and implementation of the SPoI survey, would better serve UCF's core values of integrity, scholarship, community, and excellence in how we make decisions about faculty performance.

#### REFERENCES

- American Association of University Professors. (2015). Statement on teaching evaluation. Retrieved 19 August, 2020 from https://www.aaup.org/report/statement-teachingevaluation.
- Anderson, K. J., & Smith, G. (2005). Students' preconceptions of professors: Benefits and barriers according to ethnicity and gender. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, 27(2), 184–201. http://doi.org/10.1177/0739986304273707
- Arum, R., & Roksa, J. (2011). Limited learning on college campuses. Society, 48, 203–207.
- Boring, A. (2017). Gender biases in student evaluations of teaching. *Journal of Public Economics*, *145*, 27-41.
- Braga, M., Paccagnella, M., & Pellizzari, M. (2014). Evaluating students' evaluations of professors. *Economics of Education review*, 41, 71-88.
- Brunsma, D. L., Feagin, J. R., & McKinney, K. D. (2003). The Many Costs of Racism. Contemporary Sociology. Rowman & Littlefield. http://doi.org/10.2307/1556631
- Carpenter, S. K., & Witherby, A. E. (2020). On students' (mis)judgments of learning and teaching effectiveness. *Journal of Applied Research in Memory and Cognition*, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jarmac.2019.12.009
- Carrell, S. E., & West, J. E. (2010). Does professor quality matter? Evidence from random assignment of students to professors. *Journal of Political Economy*, 118(3), 409-432.
- Centra, J. A., & Gaubatz, N. B. (2000). Is There Gender Bias in Student Evaluations of Teaching? *The Journal of Higher Education*, 71(1), 17. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/2649280?origin=crossref

Clayson, D. E. (2009). Student Evaluations of Teaching: Are They Related to What Students Learn?

Journal of Marketing Education, 31(1), 16–30. http://doi.org/10.1177/0273475308324086

- Deslauriers, L., McCarty, L. S., Miller, K., Callaghan, K., & Kestin, G. (2019). Measuring actual learning versus feeling of learning in response to being actively engaged in the classroom. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 116, 19251-19257.
- Dovidio, J. F., Gaertner, S. E., Kawakami, K., & Hodson, G. (2002). Why can't we just get along? Interpersonal biases and interracial distrust. *Cultural Diversity & Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 8(2), 88--102. http://doi.org/10.1037//1099-9809.8.2.88
- Dunlosky, J., Rawson, K. A., Marsh, E. J., Nthan, M. J., & Willingham, D. T. (2013). Improving students' learning with effective learning techniques promising directions from cognitive and educational psychology. *Psychological Science in the Public Interest*, 14(1), 4-58.
- Dziuban, C. D. & Moskal, P. D. (2011). A course is a course is a course: Factor invariance in student evaluation of online, blended and face-to-face learning environments. *Internet and Higher Education*, *14*, 236-241.
- Dziuban, C. D., Moskal, P. D., Kramer, L., & Thompson, J. (2013). Student satisfaction with online learning in the presence of ambivalence: Looking for the will-o'-the-wisp. *Internet and Higher Education*, 17, 1-8.
- Esarey, J. & Valdes, N. (2020). Unbiased, reliable, and valid student evaluations can still be unfair. Assessment and Evaluation in Higher Education, 1-15. doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2020.1724875
- Felton, J., Koper, P. T., Mitchell, J., & Stinson, M. (2004). Web-based student evaluations of professors: The relations between perceived quality, easiness and sexiness. Assessment & Evaluation in higher education, 29, 91-108.

Flaherty, C. (2020, Feb 27). Study: Student evaluations of teaching are deeply flawed. Inside Higher

Ed. https://www.insidehighered.com

- Flaherty, C. (2019, May 20). Fighting gender bias in student evaluations of teaching, and tenure's effect on instruction. Inside Higher Ed. <u>https://www.insidehighered.com</u>
- Flaherty, C. (2019, Sep 10). Sociologists and more than a dozen other professional groups speak out. Inside Higher Ed. https://www.insidehighered.com
- Harlow, R. (2003). "Race Doesn't Matter, but...": The Effect of Race on Professors' Experiences and Emotion Management in the Undergraduate College Classroom. Social Psychology Quarterly, 66(4), 348. http://doi.org/10.2307/1519834
- Jimaa, S. (2013). Students' Rating: Is it a measure of an effective teaching or best gauge of learning? *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *83*, 30-34. 10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.06.006.
- Kogan, L. R., Schoenfeld-Tacher, R., & Hellyer, P. W. (2010). Student evaluations of teaching: perceptions of faculty based on gender, position, and rank. *Teaching in Higher Education*, 15(6), 623–636. http://doi.org/10.1080/13562517.2010.491911
- Kornell, N. & Hausman, H. (2016). Do the best teachers get the best ratings? Frontiers in Psychology, 7, 1-8. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00570
- Laube, H., Massoni, K., Sprague, J., & Ferber, A. (2007). The impact of gender on the evaluation of teaching: What we know and what we can do. *National Women's Studies Association Journal*, 19(3), 87-104.
- Lakin, A. L. (2016). Effective faculty evaluation at the teaching-centered university. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 30(6), 976–988. http://doi.org/10.1108/IJEM-03-2015-0030

- Lederman, D. (2019, Aug 19). *Many colleges are abandoning or downgrading student evaluations during coronavirus. Will that stick?* Inside Higher Ed. https://www.insidehighered.com
- Leung, S. (2011). A comparison of psychometric properties and normality in 4-, 5-, 6-, and 11-Point Likert scales, *Journal of Social Service Research*, 37(4), 412-421, doi: 10.1080/01488376.2011.580697
- Martinez, M. A., & Welton, A. D. (2015). Straddling Cultures, Identities, and Inconsistencies: Voices of Pre-Tenure Faculty of Color in Educational Leadership. *Journal of Research on Leadership Education*, 12(2), 122–142. http://doi.org/10.1177/1942775115606177
- McGuire, S. Y. (2015). Teach students how to learn: Strategies you can incorporate into any course to improve student metacognition, study skills, and motivation. Sterling, Virginia: Stylus.
- McPherson, M. A., Jewell, R. T., & Kim, M. (2009). What Determines Student Evaluation Scores? A Random Effects Analysis of Undergraduate Economics Classes. *Eastern Economic Journal*, 35(1), 37–51. http://doi.org/10.1057/palgrave.eej.9050042
- Motz, B. A., de Leeuw, J. R., Carvalho, P. F., Liang, K. L., & Goldstone, R. L. (2017). A dissociation between engagement and learning: Enthusiastic instructions fail to reliably improve performance on a memory task. PLoS ONE, 12 (7). Doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0181775
- Nilson, L. (2013). Measuring student learning to document faculty teaching effectiveness. In J. E. Groccia & L. Cruz, (Eds.) To Improve the Academy: Resources for Faculty, Instructional, and Organizational development, vol. 32 (pp. 287-299). Jossey-Bass.
- Pascarella, E. T., Blaich, C., Martin, G. L., & Hanson, J. M. (2011). How robust are the findings of Academically Adrift? *Change: The Magazine of Higher Learning*, 43, 20–24. https://doi.org/10.1080/00091383.2011.568898

Perry, G., Moore, H., Edwards, C., Acosta, K., & Frey, C. (2008). Maintaining Credibility and Authority

as an Instructor of Color in Diversity-Education Classrooms: A Qualitative Inquiry. *The Journal* of Higher Education, 80(1), 80–105. http://doi.org/10.1353/jhe.0.0030

- Peterson, D., Biederman, L., Andersen, D., Ditonto, T., & Roe, K. (2019). Mitigating gender bias in student evaluations of teaching. *PLOS ONE*, *14*(5): e0216241. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0216241
- Reynolds, D. V. (1977). Students who haven't seen a film on sexuality and communication prefer it to a lecture on the history of psychology they haven't heard: Some implications for the university. Teaching of Psychology, 4, 82-83.
- Smith, W. A., Allen, W. R., & Danley, L. L. (2007). "Assume the Position . . . You Fit the Description." *American Behavioral Scientist*, *51*(4), 551–578. http://doi.org/10.1177/0002764207307742
- Sprinkle, J. E. (2008). Student perceptions of effectiveness: An examination of the influence of student biases. College Student Journal, 42, 276-294.
- Spooren, P., Brockx, B., & Mortelmans, D. (2013). On the Validity of Student Evaluation of Teaching: The State of the Art. *Review of Educational Research*, 83(4), 598–642. http://doi.org/10.3102/0034654313496870.
- Stark, P. & Frieshtat, R. (2014). An evaluation of course evaluations. *ScienceOpen Research* (doi: 10.14293/S2199-1006.1.SOR-EDU.AOFRQA.v1)
- Stroebe, W. (2016). Why good teaching evaluations may reward bad teaching: On grade inflation and other unintended consequences of student evaluations. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 11(6), 800-816. doi: 10.1177/1745691616650284.
- Sue, D. W., Capodilupo, C. M., Torino, G. C., Bucceri, J. M., Holder, A. M. B., Nadal, K. L., & Esquilin,
  M. (2007). Racial microaggressions in everyday life: Implications for clinical practice.
  *American Psychologist*, 62(4), 271–286. http://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.62.4.271

- Supiano, B. (2018). A university overhauled its course evaluation to get better feedback. Here's what changed. Chronicle of Higher Education, Retrieved 19 August 2020 from https://www.chronicle.com/article/A-University-Overhauled-Its/243803?key=d70YTgktpgcK7\_T5bad8tRqILQK6jx5UJw3cLsvnYrvPWD5cqMtK2llNHC SLCrqWdnpEaWk5Q21ScVYxNWFsZTVMZ29qakh5SDlESjUyMnlxV3ZJbkROdWFZbw
- Stanfel, L. E. (1995). Measuring the accuracy of student evaluations of teaching. Journal of Instructional Psychology, 22, 117-125.
- Tatum, H. E., Schwartz, B. M., Schimmoeller, P. A., & Perry, N. (2013). Classroom participation and student- faculty interactions: Does gender matter? *Journal of Higher Education*, 84(6), 745–768. http://doi.org/10.1353/jhe.2013.0036
- Tuitt, F., Hanna, M., Martinez, L. M., Salazar, C., & Griffin, R. (2009). Teaching in the Line of Fire : Faculty of Color in the Academy. *Thought & Action*, 65–74. Retrieved from http://beta.nseanv.org/assets/docs/HE/TA09LineofFire.pdf
- Uijtdehaage, S., & O'Neal, C. (2015). A curious case of the phantom professor: Mindless teaching evaluation by medical students. Medical Education, 49, 928-932.
- Uttl, B., White, C. A., & Gonzalez, D. W. (2017). Meta-analysis of faculty's teaching effectiveness: Student evaluation of teaching ratings and student learning are not related. *Studies in Educational Evaluation*, 54, 22–42. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.stueduc.2016.08.007
- Wang, M.C., Dziuban, C.D., Cook, I.J., Moskal, P.D. (2009). [Dr. Fox Rocks: Using Data-mining Techniques to Examine Student Ratings of Instruction]. In M. C. Shelley II, L. D. Yore, & B. Hand (Eds.), Quality research in literacy and science education: International perspectives and gold standards. Dordrecht, The Netherlands, Springer, pp383-398.
- Weinberg, B. A., Hashimoto, M., & Fleisher, B. M. (2009). Evaluating teaching in higher education.

The Journal of Economic Education, 40(3), 227-261.

- Williams, W. M., & Ceci, S. J. (1997). "How'm I doing?" Problems with student ratings of instructors and courses. Change: The Magazine of Higher Learning, 29, 12-23.
- Youmans, R. J., & Jee, B. D. (2007). Fudging the numbers: Distributing chocolate influences student evaluations of an undergraduate course. Teaching of Psychology, 34, 245-247.
- Yunker, P. J., & Yunker, J. A. (2003). Are student evaluations of teaching valid? Evidence from an analytical business core course. Journal of Education for Business, 78(6), 313-317.

# **Student Perception of Instruction Survey (Prior to 2013)**

# From 1996 to Spring 2013, the SPI process consisted of sixteen multiple choice questions and four free response comment questions.

The multiple choice questions included:

- 1. Feedback concerning your performance in this course was
- 2. The instructor 's interest in your learn in g was
- 3. Use of class time was
- 4. The instructor 's overall organization of the course was
- 5. Continuity from one class meeting to the next was
- 6. The pace of the course was
- 7. The instructor 's assessment of your progress in the course was
- 8. The texts and supplemental learning materials used in the course were
- 9. Description of course objectives and assignments
- 10. Communication of ideas and inform at ion
- 11. Expression of expectations for performance
- 12. Availability to assist students in or outside of class
- 13. Respect and concern for students
- 14. Stimulation of interest in the course
- 15. Facilitation of learning
- 16. Overall assessment of instructor

Possible responses were Excellent, Very Good, Good, Fair, and Poor.

The free response comment questions included:

17. The thing (s) I like the MOST about this course

18. The thing (s) I like the LEAST about this course

19. What is your reaction to the method of evaluating your mastery of the course (i.e., testing,

- grading, out of class assignments (term papers), instructor feed back , et c.)
- 20. Additional comments and suggestions for improvement

Multiple choice questions 1 through 8, and the comment s, were considered confidential and used only for instructor evaluation. However, the response to questions 9 to 16 were public information published by the university.

**Current Student Perception of Instruction (Spring 2013 to present)** 

In this version of the SPI, there are currently nine multiple choice questions and two free response comment questions, down from 16 and four prior to Spring 2013. The number of questions was reduced in the hopes of increasing student participation/response rates.

The multiple choice questions are

- 1. Effectiveness organizing the course
- 2. Effectiveness explaining course requirements, grading criteria, and expectations
- 3. Effectiveness communicating ideas and/or information
- 4. Effectiveness showing respect and concern for students
- 5. Effectiveness stimulating interest in the course
- 6. Effectiveness creating an environment that helps students learn
- 7. Effectiveness giving useful feedback on course performance
- 8. Effectiveness help in g students achieve course objectives
- 9. Overall, effectiveness of the instruction

Possible responses were Excellent, Very Good, Good, Fair, and Poor.

The free response comment questions are:

- 1. What did you like best about the course and/or how the instructor taught it?
- 2. What suggestions do you have for im proving the course and/or how the instructor taught it?

On November 30, 2013, the Faculty Senate approved the web publication of the responses for all nine multiple choice questions for Spring 2013 onward . However, the comments are still confidential. These SPI files can be found at <u>http://net2865.net.ucf.edu/</u>.

# Appendix 3

## Example for example SPol prompts

 An instructor could receive a "1" rating for Effectiveness organizing the course if for example: for a Webcourse that has no modules, no headings or titles for information, no guidance for navigation, made frequent changes to the course format, assignment deadlines, F2F- content seems jumps from idea to idea, no consistency in presentation, unannounced changes to deadlines, etc.

An instructor could receive a "5" rating for **Effectiveness organizing the course** if for example: Most assignments and course materials are accessible via more than one method, with clear instruction on how to access and utilize. Different components of the course, such as homework, exams, lecture and reading materials, are well aligned with each other. Provides reasonable flexibility in schedule for students without compromising the rigor of instruction.

 An instructor could receive a "1" rating for Effectiveness explaining course requirements, grading criteria, and expectations if for example, for a Webcourse and F2F, does not provide a written explanation of course expectations, does not provide any guidelines or grading criteria

An instructor could receive a "5" rating for **Effectiveness explaining course requirements**, **grading criteria**, **and expectations** if for example,

Clearly communicated the expectations and grading schemes for the course early on, and remind students frequently during the semester.

 An instructor could receive a "1" rating for Effectiveness communicating ideas and/or information if for example, for a Webcourse and F2F, students cannot understand or follow what the instructor is saying/writing, and the instructor makes little effort to adjust or improve over the semester.

An instructor could receive a "5" rating for **Effectiveness communicating ideas and/or information** if for example, for a Webcourse and F2F, the instructor utilized multiple methods to communicate idea/information, and students can understand the information with little difficulty.

4. An instructor could receive a "1" rating for Effectiveness showing respect and concern for students if for example, for a Webcourse and F2F, never responds to student questions or emails, does not provide feedback on assignments, do not make schedule adjustments for unexpected hardship such as a hurricane.

An instructor could receive a "5" rating for **Effectiveness showing respect and concern for students** if for example, for a Webcourse and F2F, actively reach out to students about their progress and difficulty, provide useful feedback to students, devotes extra effort to accommodate students with special needs such as providing alternative exam times.

5. An instructor could receive a "1" rating for **Effectiveness stimulating interest in the course** if for example, for a Webcourse and F2F, information discussed in course is un-useful or interesting to that specific topic

An instructor could receive a "5" rating for **Effectiveness stimulating interest in the course** if topically applicable instructional activities are presented in a manner that is motivating and relevant to students.

- 6. An instructor could receive a "1" rating for Effectiveness creating an environment that helps students learn if for example, for a Webcourse and F2F, does not provide an accessible inclusive classroom, (such as students are unable to access course materials/documents/text, etc or not all students have the ability to participate, engage with instructor) An instructor could receive a "5" rating for Effectiveness creating an environment that helps students learn if all course materials are easily accessible and inclusive for all students and all students have ample opportunities to participate and engage with the instructor.
- An instructor could receive a "1" rating for Effectiveness giving useful feedback on course performance if for example, for a Webcourse and F2F, does not provide information on how to improve on specific course topics, or does not provide corrective instruction on assignments, etc

An instructor could receive a "5" rating for **Effectiveness giving useful feedback on course performance** if the course provides students with rubrics and/or details on how they can succeed and/or improve on specific course assignments and assessments

- 8. An instructor could receive a "1" rating for Effectiveness helping students achieve course objectives if for example, for a Webcourse and F2F, does not state or provide learning objectives, workload is not enough to engage students or overwhelming; not doable. An instructor could receive a "5" rating for Effectiveness helping students achieve course objectives if course learning objectives are clearly delineated and the course workload is appropriate.
- 9. An instructor could receive a "1" rating for Overall effectiveness of the instructor if for example, the instructor receives either a 1 or a 2 in all or most of the other categories, and makes little effort to improve the overall quality of the course. An instructor could receive a "5" rating for Overall effectiveness of the instructor if for example, the instructor receives either a 4 or a 5 in all or most of the other categories, and provided students with an exceptional learning experience while holding academic rigor.